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ROYAL COUlU' 
(Samedi D~v~a~on) 

4th Auguat, 1994 

BefO%e: F . C . Ramon, lilaq., Commiaa~one.:, and 
.:l'tu:ata Bl.amp~ed, O.B.B., and Bamon 

Between: M:lcUand Bank !'.:uatee 
(Jezsey) Limited li'~.:st 1'1.aJ.nt~ff 

And: !'he Batabl.~shment Committee of 
the Statea of Jezsey 

M.:. John BlU:.:y Day 

Federated Pena~on Serv~oea 
Idmited 

(by or~q~nal. aot~on) 

Seoond Pl.aJ.nt~ff 

!'h~zd 1'1.aint~ff 

Defendant 

Between: li'ede.:ated Pens~on Serv~oes Limited Pl.aJ.nt~ff 

And: MicUand Bank !'.:ust CO%pOration 
(Jersey.) Lim1ted 

(:by aounterol.aim) 

Advooate J.G. Wh~te for the Pl.a~nt~ffs. 
Advocate A. R. B~~ngton for the Defendants. 

Defendant 

!'BE CO!!HISSIONER: 

BACKGROOND 

5 In 1969, the Establishment Committee of the States of Jersey 
established a pension scheme under irrevocable trusts for the 
purpose of securing pensions on retirement and other benefits for 
certain employees of the Committee. These were members of the 
medical, nursing and auxiliary staff in Jersey. The sole trustee 
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of that scheme was a company incorporated in England known as 
Federated Pension Services ("FPS") (formerly Federated Pension 
Schemes). This is a company limited by guarantee with the 
privilege of omitting the word "limited" from its title under 

5 section 19(2) of the United Kingdom Companies Act, 1948. The 
scheme was established under an interim deed (which was an undated 
trust deed made some time in 1969 between the Committee and FPS), 
a definitive deed (which was a trust deed dated 6th June, 1972, 
and made between the same parties) and certain rules made under 

10 the definitive deed. The States approved the terms of the 
definitive deed by its Act of 10th May, 1972. 

Until 31st December, 1988, the fund (which had a value in 
eXCess of £12 million) was wholly invested in a group pension 

15 policy dated 1st September, 1973, and issued by the Jersey Agency 
of the Royal National Pension Fund for Nurses ("RNPFN"). 

'rHE PLEADINGS 

20 There appears to be little dispute over facts contained in 
the pleadings and we shall deal with the conclusions to be drawn 
from the relevant provisions of the Trusts (Jersey) Law 1984 in 
their turn. The fund, from the commencement of the scheme until 
31st December, 1988, was wholly invested in the policy which was a 

25 group pension policy payable under the 'scheme. It was decided 
that the scheme should become self-administered and between 21st 
and 30th June, 1988, FPS gave notice to terminate the policy as at 
31st December, 1988, in the terms of the scheme. On 31st 
December, the very substantial sum payable on terrninati'on became 

30 payable to FPS at that date. It was agreed by the trustee and 
approved by the States of Jersey that the fund would be managed in 
future by "Hambros" (thi s 'expres sion inCludes Hambros Bank 
Limited, Hambros Investment Management Services Limited and/or 
Hambros Bank (Jersey) Limited). It was anticipated that the 

35 transfer of the fund would be made on, or before 1st January, 
1989. As it happened, the capital and interest paid to FPS as 
trustee of the scheme was not transferred to Hambros until 1st 
March, 1989, and FPS did not authorise Bambros to begin the 
investment of this substantial fund until late Fepruary, 1989. 

40 The funds w,ere, placed on deposit in the interim period. The 
explanation given by FPS for the failure to transfer on the due 
date, was that the trustee did not do so until it was satisfied 
that it was proper to do so "and in particular until it was 
satisfied that a customer agreement satisfying the requirements of 

45 the United Kingdom Financial Services Act 1987 was not required." 
It is admitted that the transfer was eventually made to Harnbros to 
manage even though the customer agreement was not (and never has 
been) signed. 

50 On 5th May further discovery (following correspondence 
between the parties) was made by the defendant. The affidavit on 
discovery was sworn by Advocate Binning~on and states: 
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"I depose to the content of this affidavit on beha~f of 
the defendant, Federated Pension Services Limited, (aic) 
and I confirm that I am authorised by the said defendant 
to swear this affidavit. The contents of this affidavit 
are based upon the instructions provided to me by the 
defendant. I make this affidavit further to my affidavit 
of discovery sworn on the 2nd November, 1993, since which 
date, as a result of a new train of enquiry, additional 
documents have come to light which were not previously 
thought relevant or otherwise disclosable". 

The case had been set down for hearing on the 13th August, 
1992. On 14th October, 1993, the part~es applied for a date for 
the hearing of the action. The 23rd May, 1994, was fixed for a 
trial estimated to run for two weeks. On 15th March, 1994, the 
Judicial Greffier ordered by consent that the issue to be 
determined at trial was on a preliminary point as to whether there 
had been a breach or breaches of trust on the part of the 
defendant for which the defendant ought to be made liable. 

The further discovered documents revealed material that 
caused surprise to the plaintiff. Correspondence ensued and on 
13th May, 1994, the defendant's lawyers wrote to the plaintiff's 
lawyers to state this:-

"In the light of the fact that you accept that the advice 
given by Charles Russell Williams ,; James" (London lawyers 
of FPS) "falls within the category of legal advice 
privilege and not litigation privilege, I am prepared to. 
disclose that advice to you on that basis. Copies are 
attached hereto". 

Also on the 13th May the plaintiffs served a further 
supplemental affidavit of discovery sworn by Crown Advocate Cyril 
Whelan dealing with the disclosure of Dr. Tobias' notes and "three 
additional categories of supplemental discovery". 

One of the letters (dated 29th March, 1969) disclosed by the 
40 defendant appeared to end somewhat abruptly at the end of a 

paragraph. This led to further correspondence. 

45 

50 

On the 20th May (the Friday before trial) some forty pages of 
letters and notes (including an illuminating attendance note 
prepared by FPS's London Solicitors Charles Russell Williams & 
James) were delivered to the plaintiff. There was within the 
bundle the completed letter of 2'9th March, 1989, (headed "Private 
and Confidential.- Privileged") which has, after its original 
final paragraph a further one and a half pages of advice under two 
headings "Customer Agreement with States of JeFsey" and "IMRO". 
The completed letter has passages inimical to the defendant's 
stated case in that it clearly sets out that FPS did not have the 
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right (as it claimed) to delay the transfer of the pension scheme 
assets to Bambros until the customer agreement with the States of 
Jersey had been concluded. 

5 We need to' remind the parties that on the 22nd December, 
1992, the Superior Number issued a practice direction under Rule 
6/22 of the Royal Court Rules, 1982, which reads:-

"The Superior Number of the Royal Court has directed that, 
10 notwithstanding the terms of Rule 6/22(1) of the Royal 

Court Rules, 1982, as amended, a party shall not apply to 
the Bailiff for a day to be fixed for the trial or hearing 
of the action before all parties to the action shall have 
completed discovery in accordance with any order made by 

15 the Judicial Greffier at or before the date upon which the 
proceedings were set down for hearing". 

20 
TIlE LA~ COlUU!:SPONDENCE ' 

The later correspondence received from the defendants is, on 
the face of it, destructive of the defendant's case. A letter 
sent by PPS to the Deputy Treasurer of the States, Mr. Ronald Lee, 
seeks to avoid any criticism. It is dated 7th February, 1989, and 

25 is written by Mr. L.B. Akid, the Chief Executive of FPS. Because 
Mr. Akid was, at all material times, the executive dealing with 
the states on this matter on behalf of FPS we shall treat him and 
FPS as one and the same for the purposes of this Judgment. The 
defendant is, of course, FPS and not Mr. Akid. We set the letter 

30 out in full: 

35 

40 

45 

50 

"Dear Hr. Lee 

INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

Thank you for your letter of 3 January about the 
investment of funds for FPS 1622. 

As you know, we entirely share your wish to get the funds 
into the hands of the new segregated manager. We 
initiated consideration of the investment switch last 
year. Since being informed on 1 November 1988 of the 
acceptance by the States Finance and Economic Committee of 
the ohange to Hambros Bank (Jersey) Limited, we have with 
your help made all speed to form the management agreement 
with Hambros and all other necessary arrangements. These 
were all in place by 28 December 1988. 

The position was thrown into doubt for us solely because, 
at the eleventh hour, We found that .our customer 
agreement, which I passed to you in November with a 
reminder in December, had not been addressed by the States 
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Officials. We took the view that the changeover was an 
important step in our role in this scheme as regards both 
the investment management and the Employer and that the 
documentation should be properly in order as regards each 
and dealt'with at the same time. 

It was only at this juncture that we decided that we 
should await the decision of the States Committees during 
January and meantime put the money on deposit, having 
consulted with you as to term (one month fixed) and rates. 
At the time this appeared to be a satisfactory home for 
the funds in the short term. We pursued the matter by 
telephone and correspondence in January. Only on the 
advice of the States Treasury as to progress did we adopt 
their suggestion to roll over the deposit for a further 
month. 

Had I appreciated, at the outset, how long it would take 
to deal with the customer agreem~nt, we might wel~ have 
taken ,a different judgment on how to deal with the 
position. I suggest, however, that your criticism by 
reference to the upward movement of equity markets in 
recent weeks is purely an application of hindsight. 

I am glad to say that we received from John Tobias on 3 
February speciEi'o proposals on the customer agreement to 
which we are responding and believe will result in 
resolving the matter. 

In view of your clear wish to see the fund under, 
management as soon as possible - which is a position we 
would be entirely happy with - we shall transfer the funds 
to Hambros Bank (Jersey) Limited at the earliest 
opportunity whilst avoiding any penalty from the finance 
company. Practically speaking, this means that Hambros 
will be able to buy after the end of the current Stock 
Exchange account ending on 10 February. r will tie up the 
details with them. 

r am sorry to burden you with a long letter but feel it 
appropriate to put the position into context. 

Yours sincerely 

L.B • .1>.KID 

Chief Executive. " 

Had it not been for the later discovered correspondence it 
would have been difficult to criticise the third. paragraph of that 
letter for being disingenuous. We now know from an attendance 
note on the files of FPS's London solicitors and from three draft 
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letters prepared by them for Mr. Akid's consideration that "there 
was absolutely no reason why the funds could not have gone 
straight to HifJmbros" and that "we could not deny that in the 
events that have happened it is unfortunate to say the least that 

5 the funds were not with Hambros as from the end of December". 
Indeed, the third draft letter that was sent to Mr. Akid for his 
approval by his solicitors (which bears no relation to the letter 
that he finally sent) went so far as to make this admission 
(wrapped up in a convoluted expression of regret, explanation and 

10 defensive criticism): " .... I agree that there was no prohibition 
against placing the funds with Hambros in the absence of the 
agreement ... ~ .. lI 

The attendance note of Mr. Patrick Russell dated 7th 
15 February, 1989," minuting discussions with Mr. Akid has this 

telling phrase in it: 

20 

25 

"Equally we could not deny that in the events that have 
happened it is unfortunate to say the least that the funds 
were not with Hambros as from the end of December • 

•.•• If there has been an actionable piece of negligence on 
the part of FPS in not putting the funds with Hambros at 
the end of December nothing we can now do can alter the 
fact . ... ~ " 

This question of negligence leads us to what we shall call: 
"the principal question". 

30 TBE PltJ:NCJ:PAL QUESTJ:ON: "Was FPS in breach of its duty as a 
trustee?1f 

If we decide this question in the negative then the action 
falls away. If our answer were in the affirmative then we would 

35 have to go on to consider the terms and effects of an exculpation 
clause and how that is affected by Article 41 and other provisions 
of the Trust (Jersey) Law, 1984. We would also have to consider 
the late amendment by the plaintiffs of the Order of Justice 
(allowed by us after argument) which raises the difficult question 

40 of wgether the release and indemnity contained in Rule 29 of the 
Sche~e is void as being contrary to Public Policy. 

45 

50 

Let us consider the salient facts appertaining to this 
matter. 

Dr. John Jacob Tobias came to Jersey in 1983 to become Chief 
Executive to the States Personnel Department. He now lives in 
Malta and is a consultant to that Government. He held his post in 
Jersey for the greater part of four years before Mr. Ralph Robbins 
(who was not a witness) took over from him. However, he continued 
to act as a consultant at all times material to this action after 
he returned to live in England. We do not feel that this 
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situation made the lines of communication between FPS and the 
States of Jersey any easier. 

In 1987 the pension fund had been invested (as it had from 
5 its ~nception) by the Royal National Pension Fund for Nurses 

("RNPFN") through an insurance scheme. For sOme time the 
ActuJries to FPS, Bacon and Woodrow had been recommending that 
this long-standing arrangement should be terminated. The return 
on the. fund was, in Dr. Tobias' words: "not as good as it might 

10 have been," and it was decided by the States to ask the trustee 
(FPS) to end the insured contract in order to place the money on 
the Stock Exchange. FPS readily agreed to terminate and, with six 
months notice required to terminate at the end of the year, notice 
was duly given in July, 1988. 

15 

20 

25 

FPS were concerned about the future investment of the scheme 
and it is quite clear from the correspondence that we were shown 
that FPS had every anticipation that they would continue as 
trustees of the altered scheme. There was, on this matter, no 
complete openness of intention disclosed by the States and from 
time to time we saw certain "hidden agendas" prepared by Dr. 
Tobias. Certainly an intention had been made by the plaintiffs at 
an early stage to change the trustees. This was not concerned 
with a lack of confidence although it is to us noteworthy that the 
recommendation to move to a self~administered and more 
"remunerative scheme was made by Bacon and Woodrow and not by the 
trustees. 

A meeting was arranged to discuss matters with all the 
30 necessary parties in London in September, 19B8. The concern felt 

by Mr. Akidatthis time is shown in a letter dated 17th August to 
Mr. Robbins: 

35 

40 

45 

50 

"Having had no dates from you (despite my office calling 
yours to remind them) I am a touch surprised to be told of 
a meeting on 7th September when I was planning to be on 
holiday. I am more concerned that this is leaving time 
tight to carry through a manager selection process by the 
end of September, as it is desirable if the option of 
considering RNPFN's Managed Fund on their favourable terms 
is to be kept open." 

In a brief prepared by Dr. Tobias for those in Jersey 
attending the meeting he wrote, in part: 

"d. The fourth objective is to indicate to (FPS) that 
discussions about the future of (FPS) are not confined to 
matters of investments, benefits and contributions, but 
include also other considerations of the role of (FPS) and 
the separate existence of (FPS}." I 

I 
i 

I 
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Although not read out to us, it is significant that part 
of the later section of the brief reads as follows: 

"It would not be right at this meeting to do more in 
5 relation to the fourth objective than to put (FPS) on 

notice that its position is under question and must be 
justified. ft is obviously desirable that there should be 
as little aorimony and bitterness as possible, and though 
we oannot at present exolude the possibility of an 

10 enforced separation of the parties no .hint of that should 
be made at present." 

Time was clearly· going to be a pressing matter throughout the 
negotiations and there were many complex matters to discuss. For 

15 example, RNPFN had devised a new managed scheme as an alternative 
to its existing scheme and one of the many problems which had to 
be solved was the surrender conditions that were to be imposed by 
RNPFN on the termination of the current deposit administration 
policy. 

20 
"U ADDED COMl?LlCA'.rION - IMRO" 

When the Financial Services Act, 19S6 came into force in the 
United Kingdom it set up various self-regulatory organisations. 

25 One of these was IMRO an acronym for the investment management 
regulatory organisation. FPS took advice from its lawyers, 
Messrs. Charles Russell Williams and James. 

A draft rule book was produced by IMRO. It was e large 
30 volume covering a wide area ranging from matters that it could 

regulate to the insurers to whom its rules would apply. Despite 
Advocate White'S telling uithat the directions of IMRO were 
clear, we can appreciate the difficulty that those caught by the 
rules had in understanding the mass of detail of what was 

35 proposed. 

The Board had decided in particular that its rules should 
apply to investment business carried out by authorised firms from 
the United Kingdom with persons overseas. The rules of IMRO were 

40 constantly updated. One of its rules had an "obligation to 
conclude a Customer Agreement". The relevant extract reads: 

"1.03 Before providing, in the course of carrying on 
investment business, any service to a customer, a member 

45 must (subject to the exception in Rule 1.04) ensure that 
there is in effect in relation to that servioe, a Customer 
Agreement which is of one of the kinds specified in Rule 
2.01 of this chapter and appropriate to the type of 
customer the member believes him to be and otherwise in 

50 compliance with these Rules". 
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FPS took careful general advice from its London solicitors on 
the necessity of a customer agreement but no specific advice on 
the terms and effects of the Jersey Trust Deed whose own Rules 
under the heading "Jersey Law to apply", read quite clearly and 

5 unambiguously. 

10 

15 

20 

"These Rules shall be interpreted in all respects in 
accordance with the Law of Jersey as if all persons 
concerned were at all material times domiciled in Jersey." 

This shOUld have marked it out as a distinctive document. 

In September, 19B7, FPS applied for membership of IMRO and 
was admitted to membership with effect from 1st April, 198B. The 
customer agreement became a major item of concern to FPS because 
there was a clear obligation to conclude customer agreements in 
certain circumstances but with provisions for transitional 
agreements to cover the situation where investment firms already 
had agreements in place with customers. 

FPS designed its customer agreements with different colour 
coding: "blue" was for existing customers with schemes insured 
with RNPFN (the letter was issued on 30th March, 1988); "yellow" 
for Flexi Plan (group scheme) employers (the letter was also 

25 issued on 30th March, 1988); "beige" - employers generally 
(individual schemes, etc) - this apparently superseded the "blue" 
letters; "green" for individuals.and "pink" for trustees where FPS 
was not the sole trustee. These were accordingly sent out. 

30 

35 

40 

We here meet with our first problem. Although the letter of 
30th March, 1988, was clearly sent. out as a "blue" contract, no 
trace of the letter nor any mention of it was found on discovery 
by either party in these proceedings. All that exists is a copy 
standard letter on the discovered documents which is a pro-forma 
of the 30th March letter and it has written on it, in Mr. Akid's 
hand, the name "ROBINS" preceded by an arrow. (Mr. Robbins was 
the Chief Executive Officer to whom we have referred). There is 
nothing more than that. Discovery has not found the original in 
Jersey, nor a more identifiable file copy in London and nothing 
specific could be traced on any document sent to any member of the 
States at this time. The list of members to whom the document was 
sent was apparently a list of members of the central council of 
F~S of the schemes concerned. It was a list apparently drawn from 
computer records. It may be that the name written on the paper 

45 was there because Mr. Akid had to be asked to whom the letter waS 
to be sent as the island authorities had not yet formally 
nominated a successor to Mr. Le Geyt the Personnei Planning 

,Manager and.the member of the central council nominated by the 
States. He had handed over to Mr. Robbins, who was not registered 

50 as a member of the central council of FPS,. That is pure 
conjecture. Mr. Akid spoke of a check list. We were not shown 
one. There were apparently nO records other than the signed 
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agreements (filed as they were returned) to indicate who had 
failed to comply. There was certainly no systematic pursuit of 
those who had not signed. There was ample opportunity to raise 
the matter at the meeting peld in London at the Actuaries' office. 

S There were no less than three representatives of the Establishment 
Committee at that meeting - Dr. Tobias, Mr. Ronald Lee (the Deputy 
Treasurer of the States) and Mr. Gary elements, one of Mr. 
Robbins' assistants. The meeting was primarily concerned with 
potential managers of the fund. Indeed Mr. Lee kept a very 

10 detailed handwritten note of the meeting - which he later had 
type4 up on his return to Jersey. As an acknowledgment of the 
trustees' duties, we must note that at the meeting Mr. Akid (for 
FPS) stressed that while any decision to appoint a fund manager 
would be made commensurate with the feelings of the Island 

15 authorities, the trustee (and the trustee alone) would be 
responsible for the final decision. 

As it transpired Hambros were to be the fund managers, chosen 
without dissent. We must stress that at no time was the customer 

20 agreement mentioned at that meeting. 

Mr. Lee first became aware that the customer agreement was of 
importance when Mr. Akid met with him on 8th November, 1988, and 
handed him another customer agreement (a beige copy). This was 

25 another "standard" agreement and Mr. Lee remembers the Treasurer 
of the States when he showed him the letter striking out the' 
headed date "September 1988" by putting a line through it. The 
Treasurer wrote "Nov '88" above his crossed li~e in.order to 
establish the date on which it arrived. Mr. Lee specifically 

30 recails that the Treasurer expressed doubts that the customer 
I 

agreement was relevant. At no time was the importance of this 
document expressed by either' side and it is quite clear that no 
one could reasonably have anticipated at that time that the 
document would play such a crucial part in the negotiations. The 

35 customer agreement was barely discussed again until early 
December. It has not escaped our notice that in the IMRO 
discussion paper dated 5th August, 1987, which is headed 
"Authorisation and Supervision of Trustees" the sentence occurs: 

40 "Professional advioe, at some stage, would be a sensible 
precaution. " 

Mr. Lee and Mr. Akid dealt with many matters of complex 
agreement but it was only in the first week of December that Mr. 

45 Lee was told by Mr. Akid that there had to be a customer agreement 
but with no indication that the agreement was a condition 
prec~dent to transferring the funds to Harnbros. It certainly did 
not occur to Mr. Lee that the customer agreement was important -
what was important to him was getting the investment management 

50 agreement and the complex tax situation regularised. 
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Mr. Akid explained to us that the general approach of FPS was 
to seek authorisation from IMRO and err on the side of over­
caution. He saw FPS as becoming involved in a dialogue with the 
States on all aspects of the scheme, its benefit structure, 

5 administration and investments. The scheme had, after all, been 
quiescent for a long time. There was the added complioation of 
IMRO. There were transitional periods, which were somewhat 
complex, provided for in the Rules. FPS made a decision not to 
rely on the transitional arrangements because they were still not 

10 satisfied that their agreement covered all the financial aspects 
that they wished to offer to their clients. Although Mr. Akid 
told us that there was a great amount of discussion not recorded, 
there are in fact, no discovered notes or letters which deal with 
the transitional period in any detail. 

15 

20 

However we examine the complexity of the relationship between 
FPS and IMRO; and however critically we examine the standing of 
FPS in relation to the IMRO Rules, we are led to a painful 
conclusion. FPS as a trustee of a Jersey Trust took no formal 
advice on the customer agreement as it affected the Jersey trust 
either in Jersey or in England. We remain puzzled as to why the 
States of Jersey chose an English based truste,e to administer a 
trust governed by Jersey law. 

25 When Mr. Lee wrote to Mr. Robbins on 9th December he used 

30 

35 

40 

45 

50 

these words: 

"He (Mr. Akid) left as a courtesy (our underlining) an 
information copy of the standard FPS contract and a 
proposed circular to all FPS members." 

There were, of course, close and detailed negotiations 
proceeding continually on the management agreement with Hambros. 
The true urgency of the matter, as far as we can see, became 
apparent to Mr. Lee when a fax was sent to him by Mr. Akid on a 
date as late as 21st December, 1988, a matter of days before the 
money was to be transferred to Hambros. We heard from two Hambros 
directors, Mr. Terence Nicholls and Mr. Peter Patural and there is 
no doubt that Hambros had its decks cleared to receive the fund 
and invest it in what was to become a bull market of some 
significance. With everything prepared the fax was to torpedo the 
arrangements: 

'~~ease wou~d you also return to me the signed copy of the 
signed copy of the customer agreement between FPS and the 
States that I left with you on my visit. This is equally 
urgent for the same reasons. God bless the Financial 
Services Act!!" 

The first part of the fax dealt with the investment 
management agreement between FPS and Hambros which had to be dealt. 



- 12 -

with before the closing of the investment arrangement with PPS. 
It was still, however, not clear to the States' advisers that the 
money would not be transferred until'the customer agreement was 
signed. It is significant that the fax is timed at 5.53 in the 

5 evening of 21st December. Mr. Lee did not receive it until the 
following day. 

The finality of PPS's stance was made clear after Christmas 
when the money was placed by FPS on interest bearing deposit. Let 

10 us repeat words from the letter of 7th February, 1999, that we 
cited in its entirety earlier but now in the context of the facts: 

"The position was thrown into doubt for us solely because, 
at the eleventh hour, we found that OUr cust:omer 

15 agreement, which passed to you in November, with a 
reminder in December, had not been addressed by the States 
officials." 

When the Treasury realised that the money would not be 
20 transferred to Hambros without the signed customer agreement, the 

somewhat ponderous Committee consultation process was put in train 
while the money was placed on deposit. The terms of deposit were 
favourable (but not as it later transpired anything like as 
favourable as the terms that Hambros would have obtained on the 

25 Stock Exchange), It was then that the correspondence became less 
relaxed. On 3rd February, Mr. Lee wrote to Mr. Akid requesting 
that the money should be handed to Hambros "as soon as possible" 
and mentioning the fact that there was considerable confusion over 
the status of the customer agreement which has: "reputedly 

30 hindered the investment of the money. If. 

As we now know Mr. Afid was then told by his London 
solicitors that the customer agreement was not necessary and we 
have the letter of 7th February which we were able to describe as 

35 "disingenuous". The money was transferred very shortly after the 
London solicitors had advised. No customer agreement was, or has 
been, signed. It was, as we have seen, not relevant. The States 
had confirmed to them by the Actuary in' February, 1989, what they 
had suspected: the customer agreement was not required at all. 

40 

THE LAW lIELA'l!ED TO THE PlUNCIPAL QUESTION 

A breach of trust is defined by Article 1 of the Trusts Law 
45 to mean: "a breach o:/! any duty imposed on a trustee by this La., or 

by tbe terms o:/! tbe trust". The defendant denies that there has 
been any breach of trust at all. The argument is put that the 
trustee had in fact exercised its investment powers by putting the 
monies on deposit and had properly performed its duties under the 

50 Trust Law to augment the Trust. The duties of a trustee are 
clear. Under Article 17 of the Trusts (Jersey) Law, 1994, he must 
act: 

r 
! 
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ff (i) with due diligence; 

(ii) as would a prudent person; and 

(Hi) to t:.be beat of his ability and skill. " 

He should also, as far as is reasonable, preserve and enhance 
the value of the trust. 

Advocate Binnington argued that if the Stock Market had 
fallen then no one would have complained. That may well be, 
although it seems to us that a failure to perform a duty may still 
lead to an action for a breach of trust even though there has not 
been a loss. If that is so, then the position in Jersey may be 
different to the position in England for it was said by Leggett LJ 
in Nestle -v- National Westminster Bank plc (18th June, 1988) 
Unreported at p.44: 

ff:r.&e eSll'ence of tbe Bank's duty wall' to take such stepB all 
a prudent businel1sman would bave taken to maintain and 
increase tbe value of tbe trust fund. Unless it failed to 
do so, it was not in breacb of trust. A breacb of duty 
will not be actionable, and tberefore will be immaterial, 
if it does not cause loss. In tbil1 context I would 
endorl1e t:he concel1l1ion of Hr. Nagee Q. C. for tbe Bank that 
'101111" will be incurred by a trust fund wben it makes a 
gain less tban would bave been made by a prudent 
bUl1inessman., A claimant will tberefore fail wbo cannot 
prove a 1011'11 in this l1ense cauBed by breach of duty. 80 
be.re in order to ma.k .. a case for an inquiry, tbe appellant: 
mu lit: sbow t:bat: 10811 wall-caused by breacb of dut:y on t:be 
part: of t:.be Bank." 

35 Certainly, our Law refers to a breach of "any" duty. In 
practical terms, the distinction is not important to what we have 
to decide because there was a substantial loss but it does mean 
that the beneficiaries might well still have been able to complain 
if the Stock Market had, in fact, fallen and the breach of duty had 

40 been proved. 

The standards that this Court expects are high. It has 
always been so for anyone who holds himself in a fiduciary position 
whether as trustee in the modern concept or in the pre-trust 

45 concept of a "bon pere de famille". 

50 

There is, in our view, a higher duty imposed on those 
(like FPS) who claim a long and detailed expertise in the field in 
which they practice. 

In West -v- Lazards (18th October, 1993) Jersey 
Unreported, we cited with approval the words of Brightman J in 

I 
I 
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Bartlett & Ors. -v- Barclays Bank Trust Co Ltd (1980) 1 All ER 
p.139 at p.152: 

"So far, I have app~ied t:.be test of t:.be ordinazy prudent 
5 man of business. Although I am not a ... are that the point 

has previous~y been considered, except brier~y in Re 
Waterman's Wi~~ r~sts, I am or the opinion that a higber 
duty o£ care is p~ain~y due from someone ~ike a trust 
corporation ... hicb carried on a specia~ised business of 

10 trust management. A trust corporation ho~ds itse~£ out in 
its advertising ~iterature as heing above ordinary 
morta~s. With a specia~ist staff of trained trust 
officers and managers, with ready access to financial 
inrormation and professional advice, dealing ... ith and 

15 solving trust problems day after day, the trust 
corporation holds itself out, and rightly, as capable of 
providing an expertise ... hich it ... ou~d be unrealistic to 
expect and unjust to demand rrom the ordinazy p~dent man 
or ... oman who accepts, probab~y unpaid and sometimes 

20 reluctantly from a sense of family duty, the burdens of 
trusteeship. Just as, under the la ... of contract, a 
professiona~ per.on posse.sed o£ .. particu~ar skill i. 
~i~e £or breach of contract if be neglect. to use the 
skill and experience wbich be profes.es, so I think that a 

25 professional corporate trustee is ~iable ror breach of 
trust i£ loss is caused to the trust fund because it 
neglects to exercise the special care and skill ... hich it 
professes to have ... 

30 If one examines the powers of investment within the trust 
deed the trustee has the widest powers imaginable including, of 
course, the power to invest on current or deposit account with a 
bank but it seems to us that, on the facts of the present case, 
the investment decision made by the trustee was to place the fund 

35 with Hambros. That route was (FPS wrongly supposed) cut off to 
them by the necessity of the customer agreement stipulated by 
IMRO. The money was placed on deposit not as an investment 
decision but because it appeared to FPS that that was the only 
course open to them which would not cause them to fall foul of the 

40 Financial Services Act. It was the duty of FPS under the 
Financial Services Act that led to its decision. But that is not 
in 'itself a breach of trust. It is the decision made without the 
benefit of legal advice that causes us disquiet even while we 
recall that the Trust Law was not drafted to make a trustee's 

45 onerous duty more difficult. It was designed to help trustees to 
understand their burdens and responsibilities. 

50 

In Martin -v- City of Edinburgh (19B9) Pension Law Reports 9 
at p.15, Lord Murray said: 

"As I have alrelildy stated I rind it: proved that tbe 
derenders did not in fact seek' the advice of professional 
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advisers as to wbetber or not it was in tbe interests of 
tbe trusts and tbe1r beneficiaries to disinvest in Soutb 
Africa. i'be question ill whetber tb1s OlJI1ss10n amounted, 
in the o1rcumstances, to a breach of trust. It was not 
disputed, as I understand it, that under the ~aw of 
Scot~and a trustee's £a1~ure t:o app~y bis mind proper~y to 
a necessary decision 111 as much a breach o£ trullt as 
£a1~ure to per£orm a positive duty. It may be, as 
Counoi~~or Wood maintained, that in the absence o£ 
o££io1a~ advice to the oontrary the trust:ees acting £or 
the counci~ were entit~ed to go £orward on tbe assttmption 
tbat wbat tbey proposed was ~awfu~. But tbat wou~d not 
abso~ve them in my view from the obvious duty o£ trustees 
to app~y their minds to the best interests of the 
beneficiaries as a lIJajor and separate issue. It is c~ear 
from the documents, and I think from Counci~~or Wood's 
evidenoe a~so, tbat the trustees did not ap'p~y their minds 
to this as an issue wbich they bad to decide before ooming 
to an overa~~ conc~usion in the exercise of their 
discretion. Bad they considered that separate matter tben 
the need to obtain profeBsiona~ advice (which was 
essent1a~ for their decision) migbt we~~ bave become 
cbvious to one or more of the trustees or to the offio1a~s 
in attendance. It may we~~ be (as I think Counc1~~or Pfood 
intended to convey) tbat bad tbis matter been exp~1oit~y 
oonsidered and professiona~ advice tendered the trustees 
~ould have exero1sed tbeir discretion exact~y as tbey did. 
i'bat may be so, but the faot: remains that, on the 
evidence, the trustees ignored or at any rate did not 
explicitly face a vita~ issue whicb it was tbeir prime 
duty as trustees to take into account. Bqua~~y they 
fai~ed to seek the necessazy professiona~ advice upon it. 
According~y I oono~ude tbat tbe pursuer bas proved a 
breacb of trust by the council in pursuing a po~ioy o£ 
disinvest1ng in Soutb Africa without conSidering express~y 
whetber it was in tbe best interests of the beneficiaries 
and witbout obtaining professional advice on tbis matter. 
i'hat is sufficient for the decision of this case and it 
turns entire~y on the genera~ principles o£ ~aw ~p~icab~e 
to trusts in Scot~and. In short tbe trustees acting on 
beha~f of the counci~ misdirected themse~ves in fai~ing to 
comp~y with a prime duty of trustees, namely, to consider 
and seek advice as to the best interests o£ tbe 
beneficiaries, and so tbey are in breaob of trust. " 

The whole nub of that Judgment turns on the fact that the 
trustees failed to seek the advioe of professional advisers at the 
appropriate time. We also take the view that, in the present 
oase, Mr. Akid and FPS failed properly to distinguish their duties 

50 as a trustee from the commercial interests of F.PS. We have only 
to consider the somewhat ambiguous wording of the FPS "oiroular" 
letter of September, 1988, which 'says at its third paragraph: 
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"In practice, much of this (e.g. the investment of the 
pension funds) falls within the responsibilities owed by 
FPS as a company to the Trustee (our underlining) under 

5 the Trust Deeds and Rules of the Pension Schemes and is 
inappropriate to an Agreement with the Employer. It 

FPS could, of course, have followed another route and sought 
directions of the Royal Court under Article 47. Had that thought 

10 occurred to FPS as a trustee of a Jersey Trust we have no doubt 
that it would have taken, as a preliminary, steps to obtain the 
professional legal advice which was so readily available in London 
as a prerequisite to the Jersey application. 

15 Mr. Binnington reminded us of the nature of a pension trust 
which unlike the vast majority of trusts has a settlor who has not 
only an obligation to keep putting money into the trust, but also 
an Obligation to make good a shortfall in the trust fund, and 
where the beneficiaries are themselves obliged to pay money in. 

20 This is not a simple trust situation. Within that context a 
pension fund trustee has certain duties, for example, to give 
information and to advise the beneficiaries. For these purposes 
Mr. Akid prepared an explanatory pamphlet to which Dr. Tobias 
objected because it would have interfered with his negotiations 

25 with other staff on another scheme. That explanatory booklet was 
prepared within the duty of a pension fund trustee. It was always 
difficult to draw the line between a pure trustee function and 
giviqg advice. For example, Mr. Akid went to the <meeting on 7th 
September believing that he was going to advise on the choice of a 

30 new investment manager. He even (to the discomfiture of Dr. 
Tobiasj took along with him representatives of Mercer Fraser 
Associates, his management advisers. 

Despite the fact that the settlor had an active interest in 
35 the trust we still take the view that one of the main concerns of 

FPS at the end of 1988 was to preserve its commercial standing. 

It was not enough, in our view, for FPS to assume 
(erroneously) that a "customer agreement" was necessary in all 

40 cases. Perhaps the plaintiffs (with all the eKpertise that they 
had available) could have helped Mr. Akid more than they did. 
That is not the point. We can see the difficulty of marrying the 
customer agreement to the conception of this trust. The 
misconception of FPS was that it needed the customer agreement 

45 when ,it did not. The breach was the failure of FPS to hand over 
the fund on an erroneous assumption of fact. The erroneous 
assumption of fact could have been cured by obtaining legal 
advice. 

50 There is, therefore, in our view, a clear breach of trust in 
this case. It does not matter that Mr. Akid was under a belief 
that the customer agreement was necessary, nor that he acted in 
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good faith. The caution that we would have expected from an 
organisation with some sixty years' experience was not, in our 
view, exercised. 

THE EXCULPATORY CLAUSE - A NUCLEAR SHELTER? 

Under Rule 29 of the Trust Deed: 

"The Trustee shall be indemnified against all liabi ~ities 
incurred by it in the execution of the trusts hereof and 
the management and administration of the scheme and shall 
have a lien On the fund for such indemnity and the Trustee 
shall not be liable for anything whatever other than a 
breach of trust knowingly and wilfully committed." 

There are difficulties in understanding the intention of the 
draftsman. It appears that the words from and including "and the 
Trustee shall not be liable" encompass the earlier indemnity as 
well as presumably being intended to add to it. The first 
"indemnity" appears to be a "loss" indemnity. The second appears 
to be a "liability" indemnity. 

l'Ie can best explain the clause by adding in brackets our 
25 interpretation in this way: 

30 

35 

40 

45 

50 

"The Trustee shall be indemnified against al~ liabilities 
incurred in the execution of the trusts hereof and the 
management and administration of the Scheme (i~e. in 
respect of all things done by it within its powers and 
duties, under the Scheme) and shall have a lien on the> 
fund for such indemnity and (in addition to the foregoing) 
the Trustee shall not be liable for anything whatever 
(whether done in execution of its powers or duties or not) 
other than a breach of trust knowingly and wilfully 
committed." 

Before it was amended Article 30 of the Trusts Law read (so 
far as is relevant) : 

"30 (2) A 2:'ru6tee who> re6igns, retire6, or is removed and 
has complied with paragraph (1) shall be released from 
liability to any beneficiary, tru6tee, or per60n 
interested under the ~rust for any act or omission in 
relation to the ~rust property or his duty as a ~rustee 
except actions a) ariSing from any breach of trust to 
which such ~rustee (or in the case of a co%porate trustee 
any of its officers Or employees) was a party or to which 
he was privy . ... 



( 

- 18 -

(3) Any provision in the terms of a Trust purporting to 
indemnify a Trustee to an extent greater than is provided 
by this article shall be invalid. " 

5 Article 30(3) was, however, repealed by the Trusts 
(Amendment) (Jersey) Law, 1989. The effect of that repeal is 
clear. As there is nothing in the 1989 Law which revives Article 
30 (3) then the sentence contained in paragraph 9.19 of Matthews '& 

Sowden: "The Jersey Law of Trusts" (3rd Ed' n) Chs. 10 & 14 
10 expresses the situation effectively and correctly: 

"Trusts which came into effect before 21st July, 1989, 
containing an indemnity struck down by Article 30(3) do 
not have the invalidate provisions restored to life by the 

15 repeal of Article 30 (3) (Interpretation) (Jersey) Law, 
1954, Article 19 (2) (a) (c) so that if two trusts were made 
before the repeal, one complying with Article 30(3) and 
one infringing it, but otherwise identical, the effect of 
them was identical before 21st July, 1989, and ougbt not 

20 to be different now. " 

25 

30 

35 

The relevant provisions of the Interpretation (Jersey) Law, 
1954, reads: 

"Pillere any enactment whether passed before or after the 
commencement of this Law repeals any other enactment, 
then, unless the contrary intention appears, the repeal 
shall not: 

(a) revive anything not in force or not existing at the 
time at which the repeal takes effect; or 

(c) affect any right, privilege, obligation or liability 
acquired, accrued or incurred under any enaotment so 
repealed. " 

We cannot think that Article 30(3) applies to any situation 
other than when a trustee resigns, retires, or is removed. The 
view is reinforced by a subsequent deed of retirement or 

40 "instrument" dated 31st October, 1990, and entered into between 
Mr. Robbins, FPS and Midland Bank Trust Corporation (Jersey) 
Limited whereby the new trustee ("Midland") was appointed and the 
old trustee (FPS) retired. That document, signed by Mr. Robbins 
and by FPS has this clause: 

45 

50 

"4. The parties hereto hereby confirm that the Retiring 
Trustee retains the benefit (if any) of the provisions 
contained in Rule 29 of the Rules in relation to any 
matter concerning the management and administration of the 
scheme whilst the Retiring Trustee was Trustee." 
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The parties appear to have specifically revived Rule 29 on 
the basis of "la convention fait la loi des parties" and it is on 
that deed that the defendant counterclaims against the new trustee 
for its indemnity. 

In addition to Article 30(3) we have to consider the 
(Amendment) (Jersey) Law, 1989, Article 5(c) which reads: 

"(c) for paragraph (9) there sba~~ be substituted the 
fo~~owing paragraph: 

(9) Notbing in tbe terms of a trust sha~~ re~ieve, 
re~ease or exonerate a trustee from ~iabi~ity for breach 
of trust arising rrom bis own rraud, ",i~£U~ misconduct or 
gross neg~igenoe. n 

Does the exculpation clause go further than that? Our 
difficulty is whether we are to follow Re Chapman [1896] 2 Ch. 
763, or Re Vickery [1931] 1 Ch, 572, in interpreting the meaning 
of wilful misconduct. 

This Court cited in dealing with an aspect of this matter in 
West -v- Lazards (18th October, 1993) Jersey Unreported p.p. 123-
129 an article written by Nr, Paul Matthews in "The Conveyancer" 

25 (1989) entitled: "The Efficacy of Trustee Exemption CLauses in 
EngLish Law", At page 44 of that ArticLe the learned author 
wrote: 

30 

35 

40 

"There is a~so the significant prob.Iem of wbat exactly is 
meant by the words "wi~ful default" at the end of the 
subsection. Before the decision of Naugham J in Re 
Vickery the orthodox view was that the words "",ilful 
default" included ~aal: of ordina%Jl' prudence or neg~igence, 
but in that decision tbe ~earned judge be~d tbat tbose 
words meant or required a consciousness of commdtting a 
wrong or at any rate a reck~essness as to whether or not a 
wrong was being committed, i.e. a great dea~ more than 
want of ordina%Jl' prudence. A1~ modern trust co.mmentators 
(witb one pos.ib~e exception) seem to tbink tbat Maugham J 
was wrong and tbat the o~d orthodox view was correct. 
Nonethe~ess, until tbe question is decided again, Maugbam 
J's view will be taken to represent the present Englisb 
law. " 

45 If we are to foLlow English law it rreans that there cannot be 

50 

wilful. default unless the professional trustee did not realise 
what he was doing or was reckless as to whether his deliberate 
actions were a breach of trust. The other view was expressed by 
Lindley LJ in In Re Chapman at p.776: 

"To tbrow Oil tbe trustees tbe loss sustain"ed by tbe fa~l 
in value of 8ecurJ.ties autborised by tbe trust'8 "wi~ful 
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d .. faul t n ... hiab .:includes want of ordinary prud .. nce on the 
part of th .. t.rustees, must be proved, but it is not proved 
in this case. In my opinion ",.:ilful d .. fault is disproved 
.:in all the important cas .. s and is not proved in th .. 
doubtful cases n • 

And again at p.779, Lopes LJ said: 

"!rhe trustees might have brought an action on the 
oovenants tbey migbt bave .. xercised the powers of sale 
obtained in the mortgage de .. ds or they might have 
foreolos .. d; and if any of these remsdi .. s oould be shofm to 
have be .. n imprud .. ntly negl .. cted by the trust .... s and 
thereby loss to tbe .. state caused, they ... ould b.. liable 
for ... ilfl11 default." 

It seems to us that "wilful default" can be interpreted on 
its own terms. "Default" means failing 'to do something which duty 
or law requires and which is something which you ought, in all 
reasonableness, ,to do, having regard to the relationship that 
exists - as for example between a trustee and a beneficiary. 
What is reasonable will depend on the circumstances of the case. 
If a person (such as a trustee) knows what he ought to be doing, 
knows what is reasonable in the circumstances, and, in that 
knowledge, fails to do it then ,he is in default. "Wilful" only 
means that the action taken is done intentionally as a spontaneous 
act of will and one which the person was not under compUlsion to 
take. It does not, in our view, imply dishonesty'. It probably 
means no more than that a reasonable man viewing the decision 
taken would not have taken the decision under those circumstances. 
We can see no reason in that case to go further than the "want of 
ordinary prudence" or negligence test in (supra) . 

Was the failure to take legal advice an opportunity 
35 "imprudently neglected" by the trustees? Was it reckless for a 

professional trustee who had the ease and facility of obtaining 
the ~dvice of London solicitors of the highest calibre, who had 
the facility to seek direction of this Court and did neither? Is 
the failure, for failure it was, "wilful" default or even "gross" 

40 negligence. 

In the context of the trustee "knowing" what he has to do, we 
can say that "knowingly" does not necessarily meaD actual 
knowledge but shutting one's mind to the obvious. That is well 

45 illustrated by Re Montagu's Settlement Trusts (1992) 4 All ER 308 
where at 323 Megarry v.c. said this: 

"Now until recently I do not think there had been any 
classification or 'knowledge' which corresponded with the 

50 classification of 'notice'. Ho ... sver, in the Baden case 
(at 235) the judgment sets out five categories of 

kno ... ledge, or of the oirOUlllStances in ... hiab the court may 
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treat a person as baving knowledge. Counsel in that case 
_re substantia.lly in agreement in treating all f:ive types 
as being relevant for the puzpose of a constructive trust; 
and tbe judge agreed with them (at 242). !2lese categories 
are: (i) actual knowledge; (ii) wilfully shutting one's 
eyes to the obvious; (iii) wilfully and recklessly railing 
to make such in~uiries as an honest and reasonab~e man 
would make; (iv) knowledge of circumstances which would 
indiCate the facts to an honest and reasonable man; and 
(v) knowledge of circumstances which would put an honest 
and reasonably man on inquiry. If I pause there, .it can 
be said tbat these categories of knowledge correspond to 
two categories of notice: type (i) corre~onds to actual 
notice, and types (ii), (ill), (lv) and (v) correspond to 
constructive notice. Nothing, however, is said (at least 
in tezms) about imputed knowledge. This is impo%tant, 
because in the case before me counsel for the plaintiff 
strongly contended that Mr. Lickfold's knowledge must be 
imputed to the duke, and that this was of tbe essence of 

20 h:Ls Case. ". 

Whilst it is doubtful if category (iv) and (v) now apply in 
English trust cases, the other categories are very pertinent. It 
must be recalled that when Mr. Akid made enquiry as to the 

25 necessity of the customer agreement on 6th February, the answer 
wa c given to him by his London solicitors on that very day. 

If the standards are high, then the test is high and Article 
«" (9) of the Trusts Law refers to "fraud, wilful misconduct, or 

30 gross negligence" which are terms which will over-ride any 
exemption clause purporting to exempt a trustee from liability. 

Advocate Binnington makes the point that "wilful misconduct" 
(or default) can have no more serious connotation than fraud or 

35 gross negligence. That must be right. We extended "fraud" in 
West -v- Lazards to the concept of "dol" and our reading of the 
commentary in Matthews and Sowden 14.8 suggests that we have been 
interpreted as extending that concept beyond criminal fraud to a 
concept of equitable fraud purely in the English sense. That was 

40 not our prime intention and perhaps we may take this opportunity 
to make ourselves clear. We were expressing the view that the 
time-honoured concept of "dol" within this jurisdiction was so 
surprisingly similar to the English concept of equitable fraud 
that we were able to extend the doctrine in that way. 

45 
Advocate Binnington stressed the "positive" requirement in 

the many commentaries for the three elements of 26(9) (b). FPS 
certainly compounded the breach by having obtained advice on every 
other aspect of the requirements of IMRO save that of the "Jersey" 

50 customer agreement. 
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Because Article 26 (9) (b) deals with (for example) "gross 
negligence" that would not preclude an exoulpation clause whioh 
excluded liability for "negligence". That leads to an interesting 
conolusion because if, as Mr. White says, the professional trustee 

5 has a higher duty than a lay trustee, it would seem that the 
legislature would have, in some way, distinguished the two. It 
did not. It makes one rule for all trustees beyond whioh they 
oannot eXouse themselves. 

10 

15 

20 

We must reoall that in West -v- Lazards (18th October, 1993) 
Jersey Unreported, we relied on a Canadian case Osmond -v- McColl 
- Frontenac Oil Co Ltd (1939) 47 Man LR 176 at 178, where Dysart J 
distinguished "negligence" (a negative state, a want of care, or 
lack of due attention) from "gross negligence" la positive, 
affirmative state of mind .... ). It implies a certain roens rea, 
an intentional disregard of danger, a recklessness. 

This would, in our view, lead to a deliberate shuttin~ of the 
trustees' eyes to the question of a breach of trust. 

A D~VERS~ON - PUBL~C POL~CY 

The plaintiff in a late amendment applied to strike out Rule 
29 as being contrary to public policy. That is beoause the 

25 plaintiff interpreted the rule as being in distinctive parts each 
separated by the co-ordinating oonjunction "and" so that the words 
"The Trustee shall be indemnified against all liabilities incurred 
by it in the execution of the trusts hereof" were separate and 
distinctive. 

30 

35 

40 

That would, in his view, have drawn the clause into the type 
that we were prepared to strike out in West -v- Lazards at p.129 
where we said: 

"~he terms of clause 9(f) are SO comprehensive that we are 
not prepareq to uphold it. We strike it out to the extent 
that it offends against Article 26 (9) . We find it void as 
being repugnant to the fundamental concept of a trust. If 
that means riding the unruly horss of public policy then 
so be it." 

It seems to us that public policy considerations are there to 
control the objects or purposes of the trust. 

45 We have seen from 4 Halsbury 48 Trusts 576 that a trust 

50 

"cannot be enforced in equity if it is created for an object or 
purpose in favour of which a direct gift or a contract cannot be 
enforced in law on the ground of being immoral or otherwise 
contrary to publiC: policy or illegal. " 

So again in Underhill and Hay ton : "Law Relating to Trusts and 
Trustees (14th Ed'n) we find this commentary at page 162: 
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"Miscellaneous trusts contra.t:y to public policy 

Case law indicates tbat tbe following trusts are void as 
against public policy (quite apart from problems 
concerning tbe bene.t'iciary principle): trusts to provide 
for payment of :fines of convicted poacbers, to procure a 
peerage, to bloak up a house for 20 years, to provide a 
sQbool for pickpockets or prostitutes, to place money to 
tbe oredit o.t' • company to create a .t'alse picture in case 
o.t' enquiries or tbe bankers by persons about to do 
business witb tbe cOllpany, to provide B with property only 
i.t' be becomes destitute, ·so encouraging irresponsibility 
with money. 

However, if a trust term is designed to induce a 
separation of busband and wife it will be void, e.g. i.t' 
providing a large amount of income for W upon separation, 
divorce or H's dea.tb but only a tiny amount wbilst W lives 
witb H. Tbe e.t'fect o.t' finding the term void will depend 
upon wbetber tbe term is treated as a condition precedent 
or condition subse<;IUent." 

Where public policy interferes it does so on the basis of 
striking out the purpose of the trust rather than striking at a 

25 clause that is inconsistent in a material degree with the 
intention of the parties. 

30 

35 

40 

However, Article 10 of the Trusts Law (dealing with the 
validity of a Jersey trust) declares that one of the reasons that 
a trust shall be invalid is to the extent that the Court declares 
that the trust is "immoral or contrary to public policy. n The 
rules of the trust are embodied in an act of the States. We have 
nO doubt that the document was carefully approved by those 
advising the States before the Act was passed. It would be 
surprising to understand how the States of Jersey could pass a 
document which was contrary to public policy in any material form. 
Rule 52 (d) of the scheme allows the States .at any time by Act to 
alter, repeal or add new rules but with the proviso that no 
alteration shall be made without the prior consent in writing of 
the trustee. 

Rule 29 is not one of those clauses that we will strike out 
in any event. It is not the type of clause that, if we were 
dealing with contract, we would strike out as going to the root of 

45 the contract. It gives an indemnity and comfort to a retiring 
trustee. We have found that this was a breach of trust. The 
question is when, if at all, does the breach of trust move into 
the "higher category" so that it becomes inexcusable. 

50 ARTICLE 41 - AN ESCAPE ROUTE? 
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There is one statutory release available to the defendant. 
It lies within Article 41 of the Trusts Law which gives the Court 
a discretion in this way: 

Power co re~ieve erastee frampersonal ~iability. 

(1) ~he coure may relieve a truseee eieher who~ly or 
partly from personal liabiliey for a breaab of trast wllere 
ie appears co Cbe court Cbae -

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

he is or may be personally ~iable for Cbe breaab 
of erase; 

he has acted honesely and reasonab~y; 

he ought fairly co be excused -

(i) for the breaab of trust; Or 

(ii) for omieeing co obtain ehe direceions of 
the court in the maeeer in whicb such 
breaab arose. 

(2) paragraph (1) shall apply wheeher the eransaceion 
alleged to be a breach of trust occurred before or after 
the conmencemene of ebis Law." 

30 Should we exonerate the trustee? Similar provisions to our 
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Article 41 appertain in British Columbia and in the Court of 
Appeal of that Dominion in Fales et al -v- Canada Permanent Trust 
Qg (1974) (55 DLR) 239 at 259 we find this passage: 

"~be erial Judge rejeceed Cbe appe~~ane's submission at 
trial ehae under tbe provisions of s. 98 of tbe ~ruseee 
Ace, R.S.B.C. 1960 c.390, ie sbou~d be relieved from tbe 
liabiliey for the breacb of truse found. ~at seceion 
reads: 

98. If it appears to cbe Supreme Coure or a Judge 
tbereof tbat a trustee, however appoineed, is or may , 
be personally ~iable for any breacb. of trust, 
wbether the transaction a~leged to be a breacb of 
trust occurred before or afeer tbe passing of this 
Act, but has aceed honesely and reasonably, and 
ought fairly co be excused for the breach of trust 
and for omitting co obeain the direaeions of cbe 
Court in cbe matter in which be commiteed such 
breach, ehen the Coure or Judge may re~ieve tbe 
trustee e£eher "'ho~~y or part~y from personal 
~iabi~ity for tbe same. 
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It was submitted that rerusal or relier constituted error 
and that, under all the circumstances, relier should have 
been given. It was not challenged that the appellant bad 
acted honestly throughout, and the trial JUdge so found. 
So the issue was whether it bad acted "reasonably" and 
"ought rairly to be excused". Essentially, tbe appell.ant 
urged that itB action did not amount to "oulpable" 
negligence, tbat it bad been led into its breacb of duty 
by accepting the negative views or tbe co-trustee, tbe 
T.hird Party, and that, generally, because it alone could 
not implement its poli~ or liquidation or tbe securities, 
it bad acted quite reasonably .and ought to be excused. 

Many autborities were cited witb respect to tbe 
application or the section and like sections in otber 
jurisdictions, particularly in England, long in force. 
rhe provision has been the subject or much judicial 
consideration. ro my mind tbe dominant principles 
established in the cases are that: 

(a) the section is not to be construed in a narrow or 
technical sense; 

(b) the bonesty and reasonableness or tbe impugned 
conduct: is not surricient, and it must be shown tbat 
the trustee ougbt rairly to be excused under all the 
circumstances; 

(c) being wise areer the event, the Court in &saertaiuing 
wbether relier ought rairly to be given sbould 
endeavour to put itselr in the position, or rully 
ap,preciate, tbe situation in which tbe trustee was at 
the time, and 

(d) being or a discretionary nature, tbe granting or 
relier must: depend on the circumstances or eaab case. 

Arter anxious consideration, I have conoluded that the 
appellant should not be granted relier. rhe breacb or 
trust was not a teobnical mistake, nor a mistake in 
judgment, nor the result or sudden or unexpected 
depreCiation or the securities, nor an executive or 
administrative blunder, nor what has been sometimes 
rererred to lig.btly as a "judicious breaab or trust". Nor 
was it one that arose rrom the mere lack or co-operation 
or the rbird Party, as I cannot rind tbat ber conduct 
lulled the ap,pell.ant into a sense or :false security. " 

It is clear from that case that we must examine all the 
circumstances if we are to exercise our discretion. There is 
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again some helpful comment in .!!I .. Re Smart, Smith -v- Stuart (1897) 
2 Ch. 583 at page 590 where Stirling J said this: 

"I'he e££ect. o£ s. 3 o£ t.he Judicial !'rust.ees Act., 1896, 
appears t.o Me t.o be t.his. !'he law as it. st.ood at. t.he 
passing o£ t.he Act. is not. alt.ered, but a jurisdict.ion is 
given to the Court under special circumst.ances, t.he Court 
being satisfiad as t.o t.he several IDIItt.ers _ntioned in t.he 
sact.ion, t.o relieve t.he t.rust.ee of t.he consequences of a 
breaab o£ t.rust as regards his parsonal liability. But. 
t.he Court must. first. be sat.is£ied t.hat. t.he t.rust.ee has 
act.ed honest.ly and reasonably. As t.o t.he honest.y of t.1la 
trust.ee in t.his case t.1lere is no quest.ion; but. t.hat. is not. 
t.he only condition t.o be sat.isfied, and t.he question 
arises whather t.he ot.her condit.ions are satisfied. I 
quite agree t.hat this sect.ion applies t.o a t.rustee making 
an iDproper investment. o£ t.he trust funds as well as t.o 
any ot.her breach of t.rust. rhis mat.t.er has been 
considered by Byrne J in In re rurner, where he says t.his: 
"I.t.hink t.hat. t.he sect.ion relied on is meant. to be act.ed 
upon freely and fairly in t.he exercise of judicial 
discret.ion, but. I t.hink t.hat the Court ought t.o be 
satisfied, before exercising the very large powers 
con£erred upon it., by su££icient evidence, that. t.he 
t.rustee acted reasonably. I do not. t.hink t.hat I bave 
su££ioient evidence in this a~se that be so acted; in 
fact, it. does not. appear from t.he let.ters that Hr. ~rner 
acted in respect. of t.his mortgage as he would probably 
have act.ed had it. been a t.ransact.ion o£ his own. I think 

30 that if he was - and he well may have been - a 
businesslike· man, he would not, before lending his money, 
have been sat.isfied wit.hout. so_ £urt.1ler inquizy as t.o the 
means of t.he mort.gagor and as t.o t.he nature and value o£ 
t.he propert.y upon which he was"about. t.o advance his 

35 money." l'hat. has since been approved by the Court of 
Appeal; and I willingly adopt. what. is there laid down as a 
guide t.o me in t.1lis _t.t.er . • , 

We have similar helpful commentary in Marsden -v- Regan 
40 (1954) 1 All ER 475 at 491, where the Court of Appeal said this: 

"Sitt.ing in this Court, it. is our unhappy lot. somet.imes to 
come across cases in whiab not.hing is more deplorable t.han 
tbe £act tbat a person inexperienced. in mat.t.ers in wbich 

45 they are involved rail t.o take advice from solicitors who 
could clearly bave given advice, and have protect.ed t.hem 
frOllJ t.he consequences of t.heir rash conduct.. I t.hink t.hat. 
one must. pay some regard t.o t.he kind of. st.ation in life of 
t.he people here concerned, t.he charact.er of t.be business 

50 and t.1le difficulties wit.h which t.hey were con£ronted ...... 
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We have no doubt that Mr. Akid was an honest man. He was 
well versed in his profession. He had a dilemma when confronted 
by the very complex problems of the Financial Services Act. His 
London solicitors were closely involved until June, 1988. 

5 Unfortunately FPS did not take advice on the customer agreement as 
it related specifically to the unique Jersey trust until February, 
1989. Even when the fax was sent by Mr. Akid to Mr. Lee as late 
as 21st December, 1988, there is an ambiguity as to whether the 
return of the signed customer agreement was a condition precedent 

10 to the agreed investment policy of handing over the funds to 
Hambros. 

15 

20 

It is perhaps not surprising that Mr. Lee did not respond 
forcefully. Mr. Akid noted on a diary sheet "FPS customer 
agreement. Establishment Committee 16th January, Finanoe 
Committee 23rd January.~ That does not form in our minds any idea 
that FPS through Mr. Akid had given any impression of the urgency 
of the matter. Something was made of the exigencies of the 
Christmas period but even on 30th December Mr. Akid was writing a 
detailed letter to Dr. Tobias on the surrender value of the fund. 
It is altogether surprising that it was Mr. Clements, the Public 
Relations Officer of the States of Jersey, who wrote to a Mr. L.B. 
Akid, the Chief Executive Officer of FPS on 4th January, 1989, and 
encapsulated all the real points that FPS should have addressed. 

25 He said: 

~Your draft Customer Agreement places us in a little 
difficulty. I understand that until the Agreement is 
signed you have plaoed the funds of the Scheme on deposit 

30 and feel unable to transfer the monies to Hambros 
Xnvestment Managers, however much of your Agreement is 
inapp1ioable to our case, it specifically excluded your 
functions as Trustee, and has little to say about your 
other work on our behalf in the administration of the 

35 

40 

Hospital Scheme. Of the items included in its first 
paragraph, only le) and If) are relevant to OUr case. We 
wonder whether a more restricted document specific to our 
oircumstances could be drawn up, if indeed you feel that 
you must have an agreement with us, bearing in mind that 
the services you provide for us fall outside the scope of 
the Financial Service Act." 

Had the facts supported "gross" negligence Or "wilful" 
default, then, in the circumstances of this case, we would not 

45 have exercised our discretion under Article 41. 

The decision does not arise because, applying the law to the 
facts the learned Jurats find that FPS did not commit a "wilful" 
default Or "gross" negligence. There was default. There was 

50 negligence. These were protected by the exculpatory clause, 
reconfirrned by the Plaintiffs, after several drafts had been 
considered when they signed as parties on the 31st October, 1990. 
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The whole position changes once FPS were aware that the 
Customer Agreement was not a requirement. What happened in fact? 
On 2nd February, 1989, Mr. Akid met with Mr. Hewitt of Bacon, 

5 Woodrow on other matters. Mr. Hewitt asked Mr. Akid if the 
Customer Agreement was necessary. That "came as a surprise" to 
Mr. Akid. The next day, Mr. Hewitt telephoned. He had spoken 
with his colleagues who confirmed his view. If, at that point, 

10 

15 

20 

25 

Mr. Akid had done nothing then FPS would have been in real peril. 
He took advice on the 6th February which was the Monday. He was 
told that the point was simple. FPS did not have the right to 
refuse to transfer the fund's assets because of the non-signing of 
the Customer Agreement. By the 8th February Hambros were able to 
commence trading. This was because the new fund managers could 
make purchases before the settlement day, the 18th March. Mr. 
Akid had written the "disingenuous" letter to the Plaintiff but 
this was self-serving and did not affect the decision. It did not 
apparently affect the consequent transfer of the fund to Hambros. 
Had FPS procrastinated for, say, another month or longer in the 
knowledge that it now had we would have had no hesitation in 
finding for the Plaintiffs. 

In the circumstances, and for the reasons given, the action 
is dismissed. 
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